FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/21/2020 12:54 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/21/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99052-2

Supreme Court No. (to be set)
Court of Appeals No. 52717-1-II

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, vs.

### **Damon Lee**

Appellant/Petitioner

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 99-2-13179-2 The Honorable Judge Susan K. Serko

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Manek R. Mistry Jodi R. Backlund Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

#### **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

####

#### **INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The court order releasing Damon Lee to a less restrictive alternative placement (LRA) requires him to "comply with all verbal and written instructions" given by a transition team. There are no limits on the transition team's power to impose conditions. The team's directives need not relate to any conditions in the court's order and may include requirements that the court considered and rejected. The court's delegation of this authority violated the constitutional separation of powers.

The LRA order also violates due process. Numerous conditions outlined in the court order are unconstitutionally vague; these include restrictions on Mr. Lee's access to materials protected by the First Amendment. The order provides no standards governing the team's decision-making. Nor does the order outline any procedural framework to ensure the team's actions meet minimal requirements of due process.

#### **DECISION BELOW AND ISSUES PRESENTED**

Petitioner Damon Lee, the appellant in the court below, asks the Supreme Court to review the Court of Appeals Published Opinion entered on July 28, 2020. This case presents three issues:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Opinion was ordered published on September 9, 2020. A copy is attached.

- 1. Did the trial court violate the separation of powers by creating a "transition team" and granting it unlimited authority to set and modify Mr. Lee's conditions of release?
- 2. Does the court's LRA order violate due process because it includes restrictions that are unconstitutionally vague?
- 3. Does the LRA order violate due process because it permits the transition team to deprive Mr. Lee of liberty interests without any procedural protections?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

After more than fifteen years at the Special Commitment Center (SCC), Damon Lee was found to be eligible for conditional release. CP 291. He submitted a less restrictive alternative (LRA) plan, and the court held a "final conditions" hearing under RCW 71.09.096. RP 3-121.

Over objection, the court created a "transition team" to oversee Mr. Lee's LRA. CP 48, 295. The court ordered Mr. Lee to "comply with all verbal and written instructions" given by the team. CP 300. The court did not place any restrictions on the team's authority. CP 300.

In practice, the transition team may impose conditions that were considered and rejected by the court. CP 668. It has the authority to impose conditions that have "no relation to anything in the court order." CP 668. Other such teams have confined supervisees to their residences for up to 30 days without a court hearing. CP 669.

The LRA order restricts Mr. Lee's access to broad categories of media. CP 302-303, 307. These included materials depicting "consensual sex," "sexual themes, children's themes, or excessive violence." CP 302-

303. He was not permitted to have "images of children" or "media directed toward or focused on children." CP 307. The court allowed the transition team to apply its own definitions to these terms. CP 302-303, 307.

Although the team was given broad power to regulate many aspects of Mr. Lee's life, the court did not provide any standards governing the team's decisions. CP 295, 298, 300, 301, 307, 308. Nor did the court outline any procedural framework governing the team's operations. CP 290-310. The team may meet in private without input from the patient and need not produce any record of its decision-making. CP 666-668, 775.

Following argument over the terms of Mr. Lee's LRA, the court entered an Order on Release to Less Restrictive Alternative. CP 290. Mr. Lee appealed, arguing that the grant of authority to the transition team was unconstitutional. CP 430. In a published decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

#### I. Mr. Lee's LRA order violates the separation of powers.

The trial court delegated to a "transition team" the authority to set and modify Mr. Lee's conditions of release. The team is empowered to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Other media restrictions included reference to statutory definitions; these included "sexually explicit material as defined by RCW 9.68.130, erotic materials as defined by RCW 9.68.050, or any material depicting any person engaged in sexually explicit conduct as defined by RCW 9.68A.011(4)." CP 302.

issue directives unrelated to the court's order and may impose requirements rejected by the court. This grant of unlimited authority violated the constitutional separation of powers.

The separation of powers doctrine is derived from the constitution's distribution of governmental authority into three branches. *State v. Moreno*, 147 Wn.2d 500, 505, 58 P.3d 265 (2002). The doctrine serves to ensure that the "fundamental functions" of each branch remain inviolate. *Carrick v. Locke*, 125 Wn.2d 129, 134-135, 882 P.2d 173 (1994). Washington courts rely on federal principles regarding the separation of powers doctrine. *Id*.

The state constitution vests the judicial power in the judiciary. Wash. Const. art. IV, §1. No state court has determined whether setting LRA conditions is a core judicial function. However, such conditions are analogous to supervision conditions imposed in criminal cases. This is especially true given that the Department of Corrections supervises patients on conditional release from the Special Commitment Center. RCW 71.09.092(5); RCW 71.09.096(4).

The "precise delineation" of release conditions "is a core judicial function." *State v. Williams*, 97 Wn.App. 257, 264, 983 P.2d 687 (1999) (addressing probation conditions). It "cannot be delegated to a probation officer, treatment provider or other agency." *Id.* Courts violate the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There is no improper delegation if "the court ratifies the terms recommended by the probation officer or treatment agency and adopts them as its own." *Id.*, at 265. The *Williams* court suggests that no formal order is required incorporating such recommendations; however, it appears that the court must explicitly ratify the proposed condition. *Id.* 

separation of powers doctrine by delegating "excessively" when setting supervision conditions. *State v. Sansone*, 127 Wn.App. 630, 642, 111 P.3d 1251 (2005) (addressing community placement conditions).

Here, the court delegated excessively by allowing the members of the transition team to set the conditions of supervision: the court permitted transition team members to issue "verbal and written instructions" on any subject, and required Mr. Lee to comply with those instructions. CP 298-300. The court did not impose any limitation on the team's authority.

This amounted to an excessive delegation of judicial authority. *Id.* It is akin to the delegation in *United States v. Morin*, 832 F.3d 513 (5th Cir. 2016).

In *Morin*, the court granted a sex offender treatment provider the power to impose "lifestyle restrictions" on the offender. *Id.*, at 515. The appellate court found that this improperly permitted the therapist to impose "independent conditions of supervised release... [which] could serve as the basis for violations of the terms of supervised release separate and apart from non-compliance with the treatment program." *Id.*, at 517.

Similarly, the requirement that Mr. Lee comply with "all verbal and written instructions" permits the transition team to create "independent conditions [that are] separate and apart" from the conditions imposed by the court. *Id.*; CP 298-300. As in *Morin*, the requirement is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id.*, at 517.

not limited to instructions pertaining to Mr. Lee's treatment. *Id.*; CP 298-300.

According to the Court of Appeals, the trial court left only "specific details and a few undefined terms to the transition team." Opinion, p. 10. This is incorrect. The LRA order gives the transition team unlimited power to issue verbal and written instructions on any subject. CP 298-300.

These verbal and written instructions need not pertain to Mr. Lee's treatment requirements. CP 298-300. Only one of the three references to 'verbal and written instructions' appears in a paragraph addressing treatment. CP 299. The other two references are not "tethered to the treatment program." Opinion, p. 10 (quoting *Morin*, 832 F.3d at 517).

Instead, the order permits the transition team to issue directives covering any aspect of Mr. Lee's life. CP 298, 300. This distinguishes Mr. Lee's case from *U.S. v. Fellows*, 157 F.3d 1197 (9th Cir. 1998). *See* Opinion, p. 10 (noting that the 'lifestyle restrictions' in that case were tethered to the treatment program).

The trial court's delegation here is improper. *Morin*, 832 F.3d at 516-518. The Supreme Court should accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals. The provisions requiring Mr. Lee to comply with "all verbal and written instructions" must be stricken from the order. *Id.; Sansone*, 127 Wn.App. at 642.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the alternative, the case must be remanded with instructions to modify this language, constraining the scope of the team's authority to within constitutionally permissible limits.

## II. THE LRA ORDER VIOLATES MR. LEE'S RIGHT TO PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS AND IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

The conditional release order is unconstitutionally vague and violates Mr. Lee's right to procedural due process. First, it restricts Mr. Lee's access to several broad categories of media. The order's vague descriptions of prohibited media does not provide adequate notice of what is forbidden. Nor does it include sufficient standards to prevent arbitrary enforcement of the media conditions.

Second, the order lacks standards governing the team's authority to regulate other aspects of Mr. Lee's life. The team has unlimited power to impose arbitrary restrictions on Mr. Lee, unrelated to public safety, his treatment needs, or other relevant considerations.

Third, the order fails to outline any procedures governing the team's decision-making. The team is free to operate in secrecy, without input from Mr. Lee or his attorney, and without making any record of the basis for its decisions.

A. The court imposed unconstitutionally vague restrictions on Mr. Lee's possession of material protected by the First Amendment.

A court order is unconstitutionally vague if "a reasonable person would not understand what conduct is prohibited." *State v. Casimiro*, 8 Wn.App.2d 245, 250, 438 P.3d 137 (2019), *review denied*, 193 Wn.2d 1029, 445 P.3d 561 (2019) (addressing community custody conditions). A provision is also vague if it "lacks ascertainable standards that prevent arbitrary enforcement." *Id.* Court orders are not entitled to any

presumption of validity. *State v. Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d 739, 753, 193 P.3d 678 (2008).

Vagueness concerns are more acute when conditions implicate the First Amendment. *Id.* Such conditions require a stricter standard of definiteness. *Id.* They must be narrowly tailored and directly related to the goals of protecting the public and promoting rehabilitation. *United States v. Loy*, 237 F.3d 251, 264 (3d Cir. 2001). Thus, for example, a condition prohibiting possession of all "pornography" is unconstitutionally vague. *Id.*, at 265; *Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d at 753.

Several provisions restricting Mr. Lee's access to media are unconstitutionally vague. These include restrictions on media depicting "consensual sex," "sexual themes, children's themes... excessive violence," "images of children" or "media directed toward or focused on children." CP 302-303, 307.

Under any standard, these provisions do not provide fair notice of the conduct prohibited; nor do they provide criteria to prevent arbitrary enforcement. As the community corrections officer (CCO) investigating Mr. Lee's LRA proposal acknowledged, the language is broad enough to cover a movie such as *Titanic*, the DSHS pamphlet "Eating Well for Less," and artwork created in previous centuries. CP 673-674, 735-752.

Furthermore, the list of prohibited material is neither narrowly tailored nor directly related to community protection or Mr. Lee's treatment needs. *See Loy*, 237 F.3d at 264. In addition to the specific

examples addressed by the CCO, the language can be interpreted to cover nearly every work of literature, art, or popular culture.

Thus, for example, Mr. Lee must request permission before reading *War and Peace* (excessive violence), *Lord of the Flies* (media focused on children), or *The Great Gatsby* (sexual themes).<sup>6</sup> Nothing in the record suggests that community protection or Mr. Lee's treatment needs requires him to be completely cut off in this way.

The Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that these broad restrictions are "narrowly tailored to help in his treatment." Opinion, p. 14. Although there may be some core subcategories of the designated materials that Mr. Lee can legitimately be prohibited from possessing, the expansive language adopted by the court does not adequately describe such core subcategories.

Nor does the fact that the items "must be 'intentionally or negligently' viewed" provide any meaningful limitation. Opinion, p. 15 (quoting CP 302). The broad scope of each prohibition remains the same, whether Mr. Lee's view of material is intentional or negligent.

The Court of Appeals also points out that "[s]ome of the items are prohibited only if viewed 'for the purpose of causing or enhancing sexual arousal." Opinion, p. 15 (quoting CP 302). This does not cure the problem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> If he were denied permission to read a certain book or watch a particular movie, Mr. Lee might have to wait a month before making another request, as transition teams often limit a person to three requests per month. CP 665-666, 775.

First, the fact that only *some* of the items have this limitation leaves others without the additional protection. Second, it will be nearly impossible for Mr. Lee to prove the purpose underlying his possession of non-pornographic material protected by the First Amendment. Thus, for example, the treatment team will have plenary authority to decide that Mr. Lee viewed the movie *Titanic* for the purpose of causing or enhancing arousal. The same is true of any other media Mr. Lee accesses. The 'sexual arousal' limitation will do nothing to cure the chilling effect of the LRA order's broad language. *See Grayned v. City of Rockford*, 408 U.S. 104, 109, 92 S. Ct. 2294, 33 L. Ed. 2d 222 (1972).

The provisions restricting Mr. Lee's possession or use of media are unconstitutionally vague. *Id.* Except for those terms referring to specific statutory definitions,<sup>7</sup> all provisions relating to Mr. Lee's access to media are unconstitutionally vague. *Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d at 753. They must be stricken from the court's order.<sup>8</sup> *Id*.

B. The LRA order lacks ascertainable standards to prevent arbitrary enforcement of conditions governing Mr. Lee's daily life.

The trial court's order requires Mr. Lee to obtain permission from the transition team for almost all daily activities. The order does not provide any standards guiding the team's decisions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See CP 302.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In the alternative, the case must be remanded for the trial court to fashion terms that are sufficiently definite to comport with due process.

Among other things, Mr. Lee must get approval before speaking to anyone (whether in person, by telephone, or through text), giving gifts to friends or family members, or going anywhere. CP 295, 298, 300, 301, 307, 308. The court did not provide any criteria governing the transition team's decisions. CP 290-310. Because of this, all conditions involving transition team participation are unconstitutionally vague.

The order is unconstitutionally vague because it "lacks ascertainable standards that prevent arbitrary enforcement." *Casimiro*, 8 Wn.App.2d at 250. The transition team may deny any of Mr. Lee's requests for no reason at all.

Nothing in the LRA order requires the team to focus on Mr. Lee's best interests or protection of the community. Although courts must focus on those factors when crafting a conditional release order, 9 the trial court did not incorporate any such requirement into the order here. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' conclusion, the transition team's decision making is *not* "guided by an ascertainable standard." Opinion, p. 16.

In the absence of any language protecting against arbitrary action by the transition team, the court's order is unconstitutionally vague. *Id*. The order does not outline any criteria guiding transition team decisions. All provisions granting the transition team authority to make decisions must be stricken. <sup>10</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See RCW 71.09.096.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  In the alternative, the case must be remanded to the trial court to fashion standards that comport with due process.

C. The LRA order violates Mr. Lee's right to procedural due process because it does not outline any rules governing the transition team's operation.

The federal and state constitutions prohibit the deprivation of liberty without due process. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I §3. Courts determine the constitutional requirements of procedural due process by balancing three factors: "[f]irst, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; second, the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and finally, the Government's interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail." *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 335, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976).

Here, all three factors weigh in favor of strong procedural protections. The transition team has been given unlimited authority over Mr. Lee's life – it can confine him to his residence, prohibit him from speaking with anyone, and censor his consumption of media of all types. The private interests at stake are of the highest significance.

Under the court's order, there are no "procedures used" to reduce the risk of erroneous deprivation. *Id.* The transition team may meet privately, produce no record of the information considered in reaching a decision, and decide any matter without input from the patient. 11 CP 666-668, 775.

The addition of any procedural safeguards would be an improvement on the current system. A transition team with the power to order 30 days of house arrest (as described by the investigating CCO) must, at the very least, satisfy the "minimum requirements of due process." *See Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 489, 92 S. Ct. 2593, 33 L. Ed. 2d 484 (1972).

Finally, the State has no strong countervailing interest. According to the investigating CCO, some transition teams already provide some procedural protections. These include notice of the issues to be discussed, an opportunity to be heard or to ask questions, a right to bring "witnesses" to the meeting, and the right to a written decision. CP 664-668. Some team members may even produce a written record (in the form of personal notes) outlining the information considered and how each team member decided a particular issue. CP 664-668.

There should be no objection to formalizing these practices in the court's order. Given the significant decisions made by the transition team, the trial court should have created a procedural framework governing the team's work. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Although the investigating CCO described an informal process allowing patient input after the decision had been made by the team, SCC Deputy CEO Bowie testified that the team first makes its decisions in private, and then "the person is invited in for a check-in, and then to advise him of decisions the team has made." CP 775.

The Court of Appeals did not balance the *Mathews* factors.

Opinion, pp. 17-18. Instead, it implied that Mr. Lee could go to court any time he disagrees with an arbitrary directive from the transition team.

Opinion, pp. 17-18.

This 'solution' defeats the purpose of the transition team, which is "the day-to-day administration" of the order. Opinion, p. 9. Mr. Lee should not be burdened with the responsibility of seeking a court hearing for the team's day-to-day decisions. It would not be unduly onerous to require minimal procedural fairness in the team's administration of Mr. Lee's LRA.

The Court of Appeals also contends that no procedural protections are warranted because the team's power "is limited to the terms contained in the order." Opinion, p. 18. But the order requires Mr. Lee to "comply with all verbal and written instructions" given by the team. CP 300. The order does not limit the decisions that can be made by the team.

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