FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/20/2020 1:11 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99052-2

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

In re the Detention of:

DAMON LEE,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

LEAH HARRIS, WSBA #40815 KELLY PARADIS, WSBA #47175 Assistant Attorneys General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2031 OID #91094

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The LRA Order Does Not Violate the Separation of Powers

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court properly delegated to the transition team the authority to implement the conditions of the LRA order. Slip Op. 7-12. This is entirely consistent with the separation of powers, the statutory role of the treatment provider and the Department of Corrections in overseeing the day-to-day administration of an LRA, and this Court's decisions in the criminal sentencing context.

It is the function of the judicial branch to determine whether an SVP can be conditionally released to community confinement. But the Legislature also has the authority to delegate administrative power. *State ex rel. Peninsula Neighborhood Ass'n v. Dep't of Transp.*, 142 Wn.2d 328, 138, 12 P.3d 134 (2000).

Here, while the Legislature placed the authority to order an LRA with the trial court, RCW 71.09.096, it also vested the treatment provider and the Department of Corrections with the administrative authority to oversee the community confinement. RCW 71.09.092. As the Court of Appeals noted, before the trial court can release an SVP to an LRA, it must find, among other things, that the SVP "is willing to comply with the

treatment provider and all requirements imposed by the treatment provider and by the courts; and [that] the person will be under the supervision of the department of corrections and is willing to comply with supervision the department requirements imposed bvof corrections." RCW 71.09.092(4), (5) (emphasis added); see Slip Op. 8. To that end, consistent with the court's "explicit authority to 'impose any additional conditions necessary to ensure compliance with treatment and to protect the community," it appropriately required Lee to follow the instructions of the transition team, two-thirds of which consist of his treatment provider and community corrections officer. Slip Op. 9 (quoting RCW 71.09.096(2)). Thus Lee's "argument that a trial court cannot delegate any of its authority to create or modify conditions of community placement" is inconsistent with the SVP statutes themselves, which specifically require the day-to-day administration of an LRA to be managed by the treatment provider and Department of Corrections. Slip Op. 8.

Lee's overly narrow argument also "has been rejected by courts in similar contexts." Slip Op. 8 (citing *State v. Sansone*, 127 Wn. App. 630, 642, 111 P.3d 1251 (2005) ("Sentencing courts have the power to delegate some aspects of community placement to DOC."), *State v. McWilliams*, 177 Wn. App. 139, 311 P.3d 584 (2013) (holding that it is appropriate for a trial court to direct DOC to establish additional community custody conditions

based on the risk to the community), and *In re Golden*, 172 Wn. App. 426, 290 P.3d 168 (2012)). While these cases are criminal, and the confinement of SVPs is civil, the analysis applies equally, particularly where Lee remains committed as an SVP. The "court may have the sole authority to grant a conditional release, [but] the management of the day-to-day administration of a[n] LRA order is administrative in nature, and the court can delegate administrative decisions." Slip Op. 9; *see also McWilliams*, 177 Wn. App. at 154. This unremarkable holding is consistent with Washington case law and fails to raise a significant question of law or an issue of substantial public interest to warrant this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

It is also consistent with federal case law. Indeed, the Ninth Circuit has explicitly authorized a condition similar to the one at issue here, requiring, as a condition of supervised release, that a sex offender attend a sex offender treatment program and "follow all other lifestyle restrictions or treatment requirements imposed by [his] therapist." *U.S. v. Fellows*, 157 F.3d 1197, 1204 (9th Cir. 1998). It held that the condition is "simply" a requirement "to comply fully" with the sex offender treatment program. *Id.*

Lee's continued reliance on the Fifth Circuit's decision in *United States v. Morin*, 832 F.3d 513 (5th Cir. 2016), is misplaced. Pet. for Review 5-6. *Morin* is distinguishable from *Fellows* and this case for a number of reasons. First, the criminal sentencing statute at issue in *Morin*

authorized only the court to impose sentences. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 3553. In contrast here, the treatment provider and community corrections officer have specific statutory authority to impose treatment and supervision requirements that is independent from the trial court's authority to order the LRA and impose its own conditions. RCW 71.09.092(4), (5).

Second, *Morin* acknowledged that an identically worded condition would be permissible as long as the court retains ultimate authority over it. *Morin*, 832 F.3d at 518. Here, the conditional release order expressly retains the trial court's authority to modify any condition of release. CP 310.

Third, even the *Morin* court stated that "the court may determine that the manner and means of therapy during a treatment program may be devised by therapists rather than the court." *Morin*, 832 F.3d at 516-17. That is what the superior court did here—determined that the transition team can devise the manner and means of a sexually violent predator's treatment and supervision while on a community placement outside of the Special Commitment Center, subject to the specifications in the conditional release order. Unlike the unspecified "lifestyle restrictions" at issue in *Morin*, here, the court "dictated 14 pages of detailed conditions for Lee to follow, leaving only specific details and a few undefined terms to the transition team, which included Lee's sex offender treatment provider." Slip Op. 10; CP 295-308. For example, Lee may not possess a firearm (CP 302), enter into any adult

entertainment establishment where nudity or erotic entertainment or literature are for sale (CP 303), consume alcohol or controlled substances (CP 303), access "chat lines" (CP 308), and may not, without approval of the transition team, have intentional direct or indirect contact with minors (CP 300), frequent establishments that cater primarily to minors (CP 301), have access to the internet (CP 303), drive (CP 304), and more. On these latter conditions, the court left the specific details of which locations are appropriate to visit, which times or reasons Lee may access the internet, and if or when Lee can drive, to the transition team. These details are more akin to the "manner and means" of treatment and supervision, which the *Morin* court stated was appropriate. *Morin*, 832 F.3d at 517.

Because RCW 71.09.092(4) and (5) require Lee to comply with all requirements imposed by the treatment provider and DOC, and RCW 71.09.096(2) and (4) authorize the trial court to impose any additional conditions it deems necessary to ensure treatment compliance and community safety, the court lawfully authorized the "transition team"

⁶ Under Lee's theory of the SVP statute, every time a person wanted to meet with a family member or friend, he would have to petition the court for approval. Every time he wanted to apply for a job, or access the internet, or seek approval for a new chaperone, the court would have to hold a hearing. And every time the treatment provider, the community corrections officer, or the SVP wanted to amend a list of approved movies to watch, or parks he can visit, or appointments he can attend, all parties and the trial judge would have to convene in court. Such a process would be overly burdensome for all involved. More importantly, it is not the process the legislature envisioned when it required SVPs—in order to be conditionally released to an LRA—to agree to comply with all requirements imposed by the treatment provider and DOC. RCW 71.09.092(4), (5).

members to impose release requirements with which Lee must comply. The LRA order is consistent with the Legislature's delegation of judicial authority to the trial court and administrative authority to the transition team, and, accordingly, the separation of powers. The Court of Appeals properly upheld the order. Further review is unwarranted.

B. The LRA Order Satisfies Due Process Because It Notifies Lee of the Conduct He Must Avoid and Provides an Opportunity To Be Heard

Lee challenges as impermissibly vague several conditions that restrict his access to specific types of media and require him to seek transition team approval before he engages in specific conduct. Pet. for Review 7-14. He also contends that the order deprives him of an opportunity to challenge conditions imposed by the treatment team or to be heard on allegations that he violated any of the conditions, contravening procedural due process. The Court of Appeals properly rejected these arguments.

"[T]he due process vagueness doctrine under the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3 of the state constitution requires that citizens have fair warning of proscribed conduct." *State v. Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d 739, 752, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). A condition is not unconstitutionally vague "merely because a person cannot predict with certainty the exact point at which conduct would be prohibited." *State v. Riles*, 135 Wn.2d 326, 348, 957 P.2d 655 (1998). If a person "of ordinary intelligence can understand

what the [condition] proscribes, notwithstanding some possible areas of disagreement, the [condition] is sufficiently definite." *City of Spokane v. Douglass*, 115 Wn.2d 171, 179, 795 P.2d 693 (1990).

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the conditions are sufficiently definite to satisfy the First Amendment and to provide ascertainable standards to satisfy due process. Slip Op. 12-18.

1. The media restrictions are sufficiently defined and satisfy the First Amendment

Lee complains that the prohibition on his access to media depicting "consensual sex," "sexual themes," "children's themes," "excessive violence," "images of children," or "media directed toward or focused on children" are unconstitutionally vague. Pet. for Review 8. The Court of Appeals correctly disagreed. Slip Op. 12-16.

The First Amendment limits government from prohibiting protected speech or expressive conduct. *Riles*, 135 Wn.2d at 346. "When considering whether a term is unconstitutionally vague, the terms are not considered in a 'vacuum,'" but rather "in the context in which they are used." *Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d at 754. "[T]he constitution does not require 'impossible standards of specificity' or 'mathematical certainty' because some degree of vagueness is inherent in the use of our language." *Riles*, 135 Wn.2d at 348 (quoting *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 118, 857 P.2d 270 (1993)).

Lee is concerned that the language regarding prohibited media "is broad enough to cover a movie such as *Titanic*, the Department of Social and Health Services pamphlet 'Eating Well for Less,' and artwork created in previous centuries." Pet. for Review 8. But, as the Court of Appeals points out, he ignores important qualifying language in the conditions that prohibits viewing materials "intentionally or negligently" and "for the purpose of causing or enhancing sexual arousal." Slip Op. 14-15; *See* CP 302-03, 307 (challenged conditions). If the access is inadvertent, or not for the purpose of sexual arousal, it does not amount to a violation. Viewing the terms "in the context in which they are used," *Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d at 754, they are "sufficiently definite" to provide fair notice. *City of Spokane*, 115 Wn.2d at 179; Slip Op. 15.

Moreover, another provision puts Lee on clear notice of what materials *are* approved: "Prior to Mr. Lee's release from total confinement, the SCC shall provide a list of all approved media (books, movies, video games, CDs, etc.) to the assigned community corrections officer. The transition team may approve or disapprove any of the items on the list." CP 307. If media Lee wishes to access is not identified on the list, then the material "must be preapproved by the Transition Team prior to purchase, rental, and/or possession." *Id.* Accordingly, Lee has received specific notice of the media he is entitled to possess and view. If there is media he wishes

to access that is not on the pre-approved list, he can assume it is proscribed or seek approval from the transition team. "Taken together, there can be little uncertainty in what materials are prohibited and, if Lee wants to purchase or possess a material not on the approved list, he knows he must seek pre-approval from the transition team." Slip Op. 16. Thus the terms restricting Lee's access to media are not unconstitutionally vague because Lee has notice of the media that is prohibited. A "person of ordinary intelligence would be able to view the prohibited materials list and know what materials to avoid." Slip Op. 15.

2. The conditions requiring Lee to seek the transition team's approval before engaging in certain conduct satisfy due process

The conditions that allow the transition team to make decisions satisfy due process because they notify Lee of the precise conduct for which he must seek approval. Further, even if Lee were alleged to have violated a condition, he is entitled to a hearing before his LRA can be revoked.

Lee is concerned that the conditions are so vague that the transition team members will arbitrarily deny his requests. But the order merely requires Lee to seek approval before he can, among other things, travel in the community (CP 295), have visitors in his residence (CP 297), get a job (CP 300), have contact with children (CP 300), and access the internet (CP 303). Lee thus has notice of the precise conduct for which he must seek

approval. He does not have to "predict with certainty the exact point at which conduct would be prohibited." *Riles*, 135 Wn.2d at 348. And the order explicitly provides that if Lee "is unsure whether his behavior is prohibited, he shall refrain from engaging in the behavior until he obtains approval from the Transition Team." CP 295. Only if Lee fails to seek permission before engaging in these activities, or if he engages in the activities despite the transition team's denial, will Lee have violated a condition, potentially jeopardizing his release. *See* Slip Op. 18.

Additionally, as the Court of Appeals noted, the transition team's decision-making is guided by—and indeed constrained by—the statute itself. Slip. Op. 16. Under the SVP statute, the LRA is an alternative to total confinement in a secured facility and must be in Lee's best interest and adequate to protect the public from the risk of sexual violence. RCW 71.09.090, .096. The standards that guide the transition team's decision-making do not need to be more precise than that. "[R]equiring the legislature to lay down exact and precise standards for the exercise of administrative authority destroys needed flexibility." *Barry & Barry, Inc. v. Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 81 Wn.2d 155, 160, 500 P.2d 540 (1972). These standards—and the court's detailed, 14-pages of conditions—satisfy due process while affording the transition team the necessary flexibility to perform the day-to-day management of Lee's community supervision. Lee

simply assumes that permission to engage in certain conduct will be arbitrarily denied. But given the statutory standards, the conditions in the order are not vague on their face. Slip Op. 16.

3. The LRA order and SVP statute afford procedural due process

Both the LRA order and SVP statute also protect Lee's procedural due process rights. Slip Op. 18-19. Procedural due process requires notice of a proposed deprivation and an opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner, appropriate to the case. *Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals*, 158 Wn.2d 208, 216, 143 P.3d 571 (2006) (citing *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 348, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976)).

Under the LRA order, if the transition team makes a decision with which Lee disagrees, he can seek review of the decision from the trial court, because the court retained "jurisdiction and authority to modify th[e] order on the motion or either party." CP 310; Slip Op. 17.

And the SVP statute itself ensures that for any proposed revocation of the LRA, Lee will be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner. *Amunrud*, 158 Wn.2d at 216. Under RCW 71.09.098, if a transition team member believes a violation has occurred, he or she "may petition the court for an immediate hearing for the purpose of revoking or modifying the terms of the person's conditional release to a less restrictive alternative."

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